THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000907

RECEIVED
DEC 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

241-243 E. Bay Holdings, LLC, Appellant,

v.

The City of Charleston, The Board of Zoning Appeals-Zoning for the City of Charleston,
Apex Real Property, LLC, and East Bay 7, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Alice F. Paylor, Esquire (SC # 4380)
Rosen, Rosen & Hagood, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
Telephone: (843)577-6726
Email: apaylor@rrhlawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err as a matter of law by affirming the BZA's grant to Pearce of a special exception for the development of a hotel on Pearce's property when there was no evidence presented to the BZA concerning the impact of an accessory use, a conference room/event space, on parking and/or traffic?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 16, 2017, Appellant 241-243 E. Bay Holdings, LLC (hereinafter “Holdings”) filed this action against Respondents appealing a final decision of the City of Charleston Board of Zoning Appeals – Zoning (hereinafter “BZA”) which approved the request of Apex Real Property, LLC and East Bay 7, LLC, now both known as Pearce Development, LLC (hereinafter “Pearce”) for a special exception to the A-1 Accommodations Overlay Zone for a 50-room hotel on property owned by Pearce located at 36 N. Market Street, 5 Guignard Street and 235 East Bay Street, which property is directly across Guignard Street from Appellants’ property located at 241-243 East Bay Street. R. p. 8.

Because the City of Charleston’s recording apparatus at the time of the hearing on this matter before the BZA malfunctioned, there was not a transcript. By Order, dated November 20, 2017, the Circuit Court remanded the matter back to the BZA to recreate the record. On January 16, 2018, the BZA accepted affidavits for counsel for the two parties involved and discussed what they remembered of the hearing, and that constituted the recreation of the record. R., p. 491.

The Honorable Roger Young, Circuit Court Judge, heard the appeal on April 16, 2018, and by Order, dated May 7, 2018, affirmed the decision of the BZA. R., p. 1. On May 11, 2018, 241-243 E. Bay Holdings, LLC, served and filed a Notice of Appeal. R. p. 33.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Under the City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance (hereinafter “ZO”), Sec. 54-923(a)(2), the BZA has the power “to permit uses by special exception subject to the terms and conditions for the uses set forth for such uses in the zoning ordinance.”

Holdings owns property on the corner of East Bay and Guignard Streets, near the Old City Market in Charleston, SC. Pearce owns the properties located at 36 N. Market Street, 5 Guignard Street and 235 East Bay Street, which is across the street from 241-243 East Bay Street and on which Pearce intends to construct a 50-room hotel, some retail, 7400 square feet of bars, restaurants and retail space, and 4338 square feet of event space. Under the ZO, in order to be approved to build a 50-room hotel, a developer must apply for, and receive, a special exception from the BZA. In order to be entitled to this special exception, an applicant must meet all of the requirements set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 54-220:

- a) The elimination of housing units by the proposed facility will not adversely affect the existing housing stock;
- b) The location of the facility will not significantly increase automobile traffic on streets within residential neighborhoods;
- c) The total square footage of interior and exterior floor area for restaurant and bar space in the proposed facility, including restaurant/bar patron use areas, bar areas, kitchen, storage, and bathroom facilities, shall not exceed 12 percent of the total interior, conditioned floor area in the facility, except that each facility shall be permitted to exempt from the calculation of total restaurant floor area one interior, ground floor restaurant tenant space if the total tenant space does not exceed 2000 square feet, the restaurant tenant does not serve alcoholic beverages, and the exempt restaurant tenant space is clearly labeled with these restrictions on the floor plans submitted with the application for this zoning special exception;
- d) The proposed use is otherwise in character with the immediate neighborhood;
- e) The location and design of the proposed facility will facilitate pedestrian activity and encourage transit system usage within the peninsula;
- f) **In making these findings, the Board of Zoning Appeals shall consider the following information to be provided by the applicant in site plans, floor plans, building elevations, and a detailed written assessment report to be submitted with the application:**

...

3) The number of vehicle trips generated by the facility and the traffic circulation pattern serving the facility and efforts made to minimize traffic impacts;

...

7) The accessory uses proposed for the facility in terms of the size, impact on parking, and impact on traffic generation

... [Emphasis added.]

On December 20, 2016, Pearce presented to the BZA at a hearing its first request for a special exception to allow it to develop a 50-room hotel on its property. Holdings and other interested parties opposed the request due to traffic and parking concerns. Because of concerns over traffic and parking, the BZA deferred Pearce's request to allow Pearce to address their concerns. On January 17, 2017, Pearce appeared again before the BZA to renew its request for a special exception. Again, Holdings and other interested parties opposed the request due to the same traffic and parking concerns, and, again, the BZA deferred the request seeking more information regarding the traffic information presented by Pearce.

On June 19, 2017, Pearce submitted a revised application to the BZA. As set forth above, the ZO requires the submission of a "detailed written assessment report" with the application and that report must address "the accessory uses proposed for the facility in terms of the size, impact on parking, and impact on traffic generation." The submitted "detailed written assessment report" did not even mention the conference/meeting/event space accessory use, so it did not have any discussion of it "in terms of the size, impact on parking and impact on traffic generation," as required by the ZO. R. p. 358-362. In addition, the Traffic Impact Analysis prepared on behalf of, and presented to the BZA by, Pearce made no mention of the conference/meeting/event space accessory use and, instead, asserts that Pearce had removed more than 5000 square feet of restaurant space, which will lower the traffic generated (from 8400 square feet in prior application to 3229 square feet in the June 2017 application) (R. pp. 132

(prior application) and 376 (July 2017 application)), without any reference to, or even mention of, the new use (4438 square feet of conference/meeting/event space) and its impact on traffic and parking. R., pp. 372-424. In addition, the Traffic Impact Analysis failed to account for the bars and outdoor restaurant which are also accessory uses. Instead, it only considered the 3229 square feet of “specialty retail” located on the first floor of 36 N. Market Street.¹ R., p. 376.

At the July 18, 2017 BZA hearing, the City Zoning Administrator, Lee Batchelder, noted that “[t]he second floor of the 36 North Market building is shown as conference space.” (R. p. 473, lines 3-5). He made no other mention of the new accessory use or its impact on parking or traffic. Mr. James Wilson, Pearce’s attorney, presented the application.¹ Mr. Wilson stated in his affidavit, part of the recreated record, that “[t]he new plans made two major changes: ... (ii) the total commercial space was reduced from the current approximately 12,000 square feet to approximately 7000 square feet (a reduction of 5000 square feet).” (R. p. 521, ¶ 11(c)). In his affidavit and at the hearing, Mr. Wilson failed to take into account the 4338 square feet of conference/meeting/event space in his numbers. He also stated in his affidavit that Pearce’s architect, Eddie Bello, reviewed the plans for the BZA and described “the second floor conference/meeting room in the historic building on Market Street, which conference/meeting room can be accessed by a second floor walkway from the hotel rooms and lobby.” (R. p. 522, ¶ 12). The architect did mention the new accessory use when he went over the revised floor plans, but he did not address traffic or parking impacts of that use.

In the Paylor Affidavit, Ms. Paylor described a question asked by one of the BZA members to Mr. Wilson as to whether the parking garage would be limited to use by hotel guests

¹ Because the City’s recording apparatus malfunctioned, there is not a transcript of what any presenter said other than Mr. Batchelder, and the BZA had to recreate the record based on affidavits given by Mr. Wilson and Holdings’ attorney, Alice Paylor.

)

or be open to the public, and he responded that it would be limited to hotel guests only. (R. pp. 528-529, 532). Holdings' objections presented to the BZA included "applicant had failed to address the parking needs and the traffic impact of the 4439 square feet conference center, as well as bar facilities and restaurants, all of which [Holdings] anticipated would be used by members of the public and not only by hotel guests, adding more traffic and parking needs." (R. p. 529, ¶ 9). Ms. Paylor further stated to the BZA that Pearce had failed to comply with ZO Sec. 54-220.f(7), which required that Pearce's application provide a "detailed written analysis of the accessory uses proposed for the facility in terms of the size, impact on parking and impact on traffic generation," because Pearce had failed to address the parking requirements or impact on traffic of the conference center, the outdoor restaurant and bars, including no description of the maximum occupancy or even proposed use, and the traffic study failed to address these accessory uses at all. Ms. Paylor recalled the discussion of the BZA regarding this application as to the traffic issues that "impacted the Ansonborough neighborhood but never mentioned the impact of the accessory uses, bars, restaurants and conference center on traffic or parking other than to require that the patrons of the conference center could not enter the facility off of Market Street." (R. p. 531, ¶ 14).

Over the objections of Holdings, the BZA granted a special exception to allow Pearce to develop a 50-room hotel on the property, as set forth in the submitted plans. Holdings filed a Petition in the Court of Common Pleas appealing this decision. After a hearing on April 16, 2018, Judge Roger Young issued an Order, dated May 7, 2018, affirming the BZA's decision.

Holdings timely filed its Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2018.

ARGUMENT

I. **Applicable Standard of Review**

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A) (Supp. 2016), this Court applies the same standard of review as the lower court, as follows: the findings of fact by the Board shall be treated in the same manner as findings of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence.” Heilker v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals for City of Beaufort, 346 S.C. 401, 405, 552 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct. App. 2001). “In reviewing the questions presented by the appeal, the court shall determine only whether the decision of the Board is correct as a matter of law.” Id. Furthermore, “[a] court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.” Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 362 S.C. 29, 33, 606 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting Restaurant Row Assocs. v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999)). “However, a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion.” Id. An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is based upon an error of law or, when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

II. **The Circuit Court erred when it affirmed BZA’s grant to Pearce of the special exception, because Pearce’s application did not meet the special exception terms and conditions for a hotel in that location in that it provided no information on the impact of its accessory uses -- event space, restaurants and bars -- on traffic and parking to the BZA.**

Pursuant to ZO Section 54-923(a)(2), the BZA has the power “to permit uses by special exception subject to the terms and conditions for the uses set forth for such uses in the zoning ordinance.” In exercising its discretion, the BZA “must abide by and comply with the standard

prescribed by the local ordinance and zoning statutes.” Hodge v. Pollock, 223 S.C. 342, 348, 75 S.E.2d 752, 755 (1953).

Pearce Development presented its application for a special exception to the BZA on three (3) different occasions, the last one being July 18, 2017. At that meeting, Pearce’s plan had been changed in several ways to address the concerns of the BZA expressed at its January 2017 meeting, *i.e.*, the impact of traffic on neighboring residential areas. In addition to those changes, Pearce added an additional accessory use, not previously set forth in its plans: a conference center or event space on the second floor of the building located at 36 N. Market Street. On the first floor of that building were three retail spaces that totaled 3229 square feet. In the written assessment required by subsection (f) of Sec. 54-220 of the Zoning Ordinance, Pearce never mentioned the conference center / event space. (R. pp. 358-362). Indeed, in its written assessment covering subparagraph 7 (“the accessory uses proposed for the facility in terms of size, impact on parking, and impact on traffic generation”), there is no mention of a conference center / event space and, of course, no mention of the size of that space, its impact on parking or its impact on traffic generation, all of which is expressly required by Sec. 54-220(f)(7). (R. p. 360).

The only information regarding the impact of traffic was set forth in the Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by Bihl Engineering for Pearce. That analysis does not mention any accessory uses other than 3229 square feet of “specialty retail” on the first floor of 36 N. Market Street. (R. pp. 372-423) (only mention of accessory uses on pages 376 and 378. On page 1 of the Traffic Impact Analysis, Bihl stated on two separate occasions: “The proposed development includes a 50-room hotel and 3,229 sf of retail or restaurant (located on Market Street).” (R. p. 376). As evidenced by Table 1 of the report, Bihl’s analysis is based on a 50-room hotel and

only 3,229 sf of retail or restaurant space. (R. p. 378). It makes no mention and does not analyze the outdoor restaurant, the two (2) bars in the hotel or the 4338 square feet of conference center / event space. It presented no evidence from which the BZA could consider the impact of these accessory uses on traffic and parking. (R. pp. 372-423).

The Circuit Court recognized that Holdings presented the issue of “whether there was evidence in the record that Pearce provided information from which the BZA could consider the impact of the planned conference/meeting room on parking and traffic.” (R. pp. 2-3). The Circuit Court erred in finding that the Traffic Impact Analysis took into consideration the impact of the conference/meeting room when it clearly did not. (R. p. 3). The Order correctly states that the BZA conditioned its approval on moving the entrance to the event space off of Market Street. Pearce showed an entrance to this space off of Market Street, so the BZA had information presented to it on that issue, but there was no other evidence presented at the hearing about the impact on traffic or parking, and the Traffic Impact Analysis clearly only included the three specialty retail spaces on the first floor of 36 N. Market Street. The Court relied on the fact that the BZA was “aware of the conference facility” to state that the BZA considered it in conjunction with the required factors under the Zoning Ordinance. However, the issue is whether the BZA had the evidence before it so that it could consider the required factors of impact on parking and traffic. See Fontaine, 291 S.C. at 538, 354 S.E.2d at 566 (an abuse of discretion occurs when a zoning board’s factual conclusions are without evidentiary support).

In its Order affirming the BZA’s grant of a special exception to Pearce, the Circuit Court ignored the express requirement of the ordinance and, instead, stated that “there was evidence before the BZA-Z from which it could have appropriately concluded that the accessory uses for restaurant and conference/meeting space would have a negligible impact, if any, on parking in

the area surrounding the proposed hotel.” (R. pp. 35-41). There was no evidence in Pearce’s Traffic Impact Analysis or in the Board’s discussion of traffic or parking that any consideration was given to the conference center / event space, other than requiring that it not have an entrance on N. Market Street or to the outside restaurant and the bars in the hotel. (R. pp. 372-423, 495-559).

Pearce’s plans submitted to the BZA showed the “conference/meeting room” to be 4438 square feet on a site plan of the second floor. (R. p. 367). That is the only mention of this space in the entire written submittal to the BZA. (R. pp. 358-423). In the Affidavit of James Wilson, Pearce’s lawyer who presented at the BZA, he does not mention the conference/meeting room except to say that the architect described it in his presentation. In fact, the architect did describe that there was 4438 square feet designated as a conference/meeting room, and that was the sum total of the presentation. There was no discussion at the meeting of the impact of this space, and there was no way for the BZA to consider its impact because nothing was presented to them concerning it. In addition, there was no discussion of the impact of the outdoor restaurant or the two bars designated on the plans.

In the Affidavit of Alice Paylor, Holdings’ attorney, she stated that the BZA never mentioned in its discussion “the impact of the bars, restaurants or the conference center on traffic or parking other than to require that the patrons of the conference center could not enter the facility off of Market Street.” The two affidavits are not in conflict with regard to this statement.

There was no evidence in the record before the Circuit Court that the BZA received any evidence, much less the required written assessment, concerning the impact of the conference / event space, the outdoor restaurant and the two (2) bars, or that it considered their impact on, parking or traffic. “In exercising its discretion, the [BZA] is not left free to make any

determination whatever that appeals to its sense of justice. It must abide by and comply with the standard prescribed by the local ordinance and zoning statutes.” Hodge, supra.