THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000907

241-243 E. Bay Holdings, LLC, Appellant,
v.
The City of Charleston, The City of Charleston Board of Zoning Appeals-
Zoning, Apex Real Property, LLC and East Bay 7, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT APEX REAL PROPERTY, LLC

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

Charles J. Baker III (S.C. Bar No. 486)
P.O. Box 999
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 722-3400
chuck.baker@wbd-us.com

Attorneys for Respondent Apex Real Property, LLC

RECEIVED
DEC 20 2018
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. There was evidence in the record for the BZA to consider concerning the impact on traffic and parking of the proposed hotel's accessory uses which supported its approval of the special exception.

Pearce's plans for the proposed hotel included, among other things, a conference/event space and restaurant/bar units for lease to tenants. (R. pp. 365-367). Both event spaces and restaurants fall under the same category of permitted uses, known as Eating and Drinking Places, in the City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance, Article 2, Part 3 - Table of Permitted Uses. In terms of the special exception rules for accommodations uses under the zoning ordinance, these uses are considered to be accessory uses for hotels.¹ Holdings urges this Court to find that there was no evidence for the BZA to consider concerning the impact of these accessory uses on traffic and parking. This argument fails for several reasons.

In order to analyze the evidence which supported the BZA's approval of the hotel, this Court must consider the special exception requirements for hotels in their proper context. To

¹ An accessory use is “[a] use of land or of a building or portion thereof customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal use of the land or building and located on the same lot with the principal use.” Zoning Ordinance Section 54-120 (R. p. 569).

approve a hotel within the Accommodations Overlay Zone, Section 54-220 of the zoning ordinance requires the BZA to make five findings, only one of which relates to traffic: “(b) the location of the facility will not significantly increase automobile traffic on streets within residential neighborhoods.” (R. p. 595). The zoning ordinance further provides that, in making this and the other findings, the BZA shall consider information “to be provided by the applicant in site plans, floor plans, building elevations, and a detailed written assessment report to be submitted with the application.”² (R. p. 595). The relevant consideration here is “the accessory uses proposed for the facility in terms of the size, impact on parking, and impact on traffic generation.” Section 54-220(f)(7). (R. p. 595).

Pearce presented its case to the BZA three times to obtain approval of the hotel and appeared two more times to address the absence of a full record from the July 2017 hearing at which the BZA issued the approval. As such, the BZA considered the evidence supporting this special exception request on a total of five occasions.

At the last hearing to reconstruct the record in January 2018, the BZA chair noted that “the only real issue” throughout all three hearings leading up to approval had been the question of traffic going through the Ansonborough residential neighborhood and that the other prongs of the special exception test had been a “slam dunk” in favor of approval. As to the traffic question, the Board chair stated that the change in traffic pattern from North Market Street to East Bay and Guignard Streets had satisfied the BZA’s final concern. (R. p. 545, line 8 - p. 549, line 2).³

² Holdings bases its argument almost entirely on its contention that the conference/event space was not mentioned in Pearce’s written assessment or in the traffic study commissioned by Pearce. This argument misses the point. This information need not appear in every document submitted by the applicant but simply must appear in the applicant’s combined submissions. In addition, there is no requirement in the zoning ordinance that a traffic study be performed.

³ The underlying zoning for both Pearce’s properties and Holdings’ property is commercial with some industrial zoning directly across East Bay Street. (R. p. 273, lines 14-23, referencing zoning map at p. 242). The closest residential neighborhood is Ansonborough, approximately 1-2 blocks away.

Another BZA member, moreover, directly addressed the conference/event space and her consideration of that space in determining the special exception test had been met:

MS. SMITH: I remember even from the - - the previous deferral of the application that - - that I was concerned primarily and really only about the impact that the hotels would have on the Anson Street generation of traffic and that as - - as the meeting went on and - - and the - - the entrance to the project was - - was changed a little bit and **that also when they agreed to not have any access from Market Street to the conference room, that I was convinced that that portion of the test would be met by this project.**

And that was the only part of the test that I was really concerned about, and I was satisfied that with those two conditions that - - that - - that the test would be met.

(R. p. 543, line 20 - p. 544, line 9) (emphasis added).

The record before the BZA was replete with evidence concerning the impact of the entire hotel project, including the accessory uses, on traffic and parking. Not only did the BZA consider the impact from Pearce's hotel but it also considered the cumulative impact on traffic and parking from Pearce's hotel and two other 50-room hotels in the same two-block area which have been approved, but not yet built.⁴ It is plainly evident that the BZA, the applicant, and the project's opponents spent most of the time at three hearings over the course of a seven-month period discussing just that issue. The impact on traffic and parking was discussed at great length in the December 20, 2016 hearing (R. p. 201, line 5 - p. 232, line 3), in the January 17, 2017 hearing (R. p. 287, line 7 - p. 301, line 5; p. 313, line 13 - p. 349, line 2), and in the July 18, 2017 hearing (R. pp. 520 - 527).

The hotel plans submitted by Pearce to the BZA included restaurant/bar use from the start. Originally, the plans called for 8,384 square feet of restaurant/bar use. (R. pp. 89 and 97).

⁴ Pearce maintained that the BZA should not have considered the cumulative traffic impact in assessing its application since the zoning ordinance does not direct the BZA to consider cumulative effects from multiple projects. The point is that the BZA, if anything, went above and beyond its duties in assessing the impact on traffic and parking.

The application pointed out that the site of the proposed hotel previously had included two restaurants/bars with a total size of approximately 12,000 square feet with little or no parking. (R. pp. 89, 91, and 96). As such, the proposed accessory uses actually reduced the square footage of restaurant/bar space and would only serve to reduce existing traffic and parking impacts. (R. p. 91). The restaurant/bar use for the proposed hotel stayed the same at the second hearing in January 2017. (R. p. 253).

The third BZA hearing, at which the BZA finally granted approval for the hotel, occurred on July 18, 2017. In advance of the hearing, Pearce submitted a revised site plan, floor plans and a detailed written assessment as well as a Traffic Impact Analysis from Bihl Engineering, LLC based on these revised plans. (R. pp. 358-423 and pp. 437-461). The revisions moved the hotel entrance, lobby and car valet service off North Market Street to Guignard Street with the only vehicular access to and from East Bay Street to eliminate the possibility of departing vehicles turning right off North Market onto Anson Street. (R. p. 522, Para. 13 (b) and pp. 365-366). As such, the number of vehicles potentially leaving Pearce's hotel and traveling up Anson Street was reduced to zero. (R. p. 379; pp. 460-461).

The overall hotel project included the renovation of the existing, historic building at 36 North Market Street. In light of the relocation of the entrance and lobby and the elimination of a fourth floor restaurant in the East Bay Street wing of the proposed hotel, it made sense to change the location of guest rooms which originally had been planned for the second floor of 36 North Market Street. In this second floor space, the revised plans clearly showed a "conference/meeting room" measuring 4,439 square feet. (R. pp. 367 and 439). The revised plans also showed restaurant/bar use amounting to 7,395 square feet. (R. pp. 365 and 437). As such, the total square footage for accessory uses, both conference/event space and restaurant/bar

space, was 11,834, more than that proposed in the previous iteration of the plans but still less than the approximately 12,000 square feet of restaurant/bar use they were replacing on the site.⁵

The fact that the hotel's accessory uses were displacing two busy bars and restaurants in itself was sufficient evidence for the BZA to conclude that the proposed conference/event space and restaurant/bar space would have little to no impact on traffic and parking in the surrounding area. And, if that were not enough, there was additional evidence that the accessory uses were clustered along pedestrian friendly North Market Street and could be expected to be frequented by visitors on foot. (R. p. 360, para. 7).

At the July 18, 2017 hearing, the existence of the conference/event space was brought to the BZA's attention in several ways: City staff member Lee Batchelder noted the second floor of the 36 North Market Street building was shown as conference space (R. p. 484, lines 1-7); Pearce's architect, Eddie Bello, reviewed the revised plans in detail with the BZA and described the new plans for, among other things, the conference/event space, which was clearly shown in the plans (R. p. 522, para. 12); and in opposing the special exception, Holdings' lawyer told the BZA that traffic and parking related to the conference facility was one of their "main concerns" (R. p. 526, para. 16 and pp. 529 - 531, paras. 8-10, 12 and 14). The record demonstrates that the BZA was well aware of the conference facility and considered it in conjunction with the required factors under the zoning ordinance.⁶

Further, although the zoning ordinance contains no requirement for a traffic study to be conducted, the Traffic Impact Analysis from Bihl Engineering, LLC commissioned by Pearce

⁵ As pointed out earlier in this Brief, both event spaces and restaurants fall under the same category of permitted uses, known as Eating and Drinking Places, in the City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance, Article 2, Part 3 - Table of Permitted Uses.

⁶ As the circuit court noted, the BZA does not operate in a vacuum. It is common knowledge that numerous hotels in downtown Charleston have conference and event facilities as large as or larger than the room in Pearce's plans, and the BZA regularly considers applications for hotel projects that include conference and event facilities. (R. p. 5 fn. 2).

provided evidence that the entire hotel project, including accessory uses, would not have an adverse impact on traffic and parking:

Project trips associated with the proposed [Pearce] hotel will travel via East Bay Street. The detailed project traffic distribution is shown for the study area intersections in Figure 4 (Appendix). The location of the valet station will be in the garage on Guignard Street accessed via East Bay Street. **As such, it is not expected that any traffic related to the proposed development will [travel] on neighborhood roadways such as Anson Street.**

(R. p. 379, section 5.0) (emphasis added). No one, including Holdings, presented any contrary evidence. (R. p. 544, line 11 - p. 545, line 1).

Holdings' contention that the traffic study did not contemplate the conference/event space and the restaurant/bar use is just wrong. At the hearing to reconstruct the record in January 2018, Jennifer Bihl, the expert who prepared the traffic study, discussed what she had presented to the BZA at the July 2017 hearing at which the BZA had approved the hotel:

Just - - just to touch real briefly on the - - the trip generation. I know that we talked about that in detail at the July meeting and at the other - - at the other meetings before that.
And that we used the industry standard knowledge on using trip - - development of trips associated with the hotel and **the facilities associated with it** [i.e. the accessory uses].

(R. p. 556, lines 18 - 25) (emphasis added).

In addition, in terms of just parking, there was clear evidence the hotel project provided for an amount of parking spaces which was well in excess of the required minimum. The only parking requirement under the zoning ordinance is that there are two spaces for every three rooms, which for a 50-room hotel means 34 spaces. See Zoning Ordinance §54-317, Table 3.3 (R. p. 598). The application before the BZA provided for an on-site garage with 50 parking spaces, fully 16 more than was otherwise required. (R. pp. 365-366).

Finally, the BZA attached the following two conditions to its unanimous approval: “1) no access to conference room from Market Street; 2) mandatory right turn onto Guignard for leaving hotel.” (R. p. 483). The BZA added the first condition specifically to negate the possibility of impacts on traffic and parking from the conference/event space. (R. p. 543, line 20 – p. 544, line 5). As such, there can be no doubt that the BZA both heard and considered evidence regarding the potential impact of the proposed conference/event space on traffic and parking.

For all these reasons, there was evidence before the BZA from which it could have appropriately concluded that the accessory uses for conference/event space and restaurant/bar space would have a negligible impact, if any, on traffic and parking in the area surrounding the proposed hotel.

II. Holdings’ Statement of Issues on Appeal relates only to the issue of the impact of the conference/event space on traffic and parking and, therefore, this Court should not consider issues relating to other accessory uses.

Holdings’ Initial Brief contains a single Statement of Issues on Appeal alleging that the circuit court erred because “there was no evidence presented to the BZA concerning the impact of an accessory use, a conference room/event space, on parking and/or traffic.” In the heading in the Argument section of its Brief, however, Holdings purports to expand the points raised to include the impact of another proposed accessory use – restaurants/bars – on traffic and parking. In its actual argument, Holdings mentions the restaurant/bar use fleetingly but focuses on its contention of alleged lack of evidence relating to the conference/event space.⁷

“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.” Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587

⁷ Holdings seeks to insert this additional issue while acknowledging that the traffic study submitted by Pearce to the BZA includes analysis of the restaurants/bars. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 8-9).

S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.”); *Barnes v. Cohen Dry Wall, Inc.*, 357 S.C. 280, 592 S.E.2d 311 (Ct. App. 2003), *rev’d on other grounds*, *Marcum v. Bowden*, 372 S.C. 452, 643 S.E.2d 85 (2007). There is no reason to ignore this rule in this case.

III. Holdings’ Petition to the circuit court appealing the BZA’s decision restricted the issues to the impact of the accessory uses on parking and did not include their alleged impact on traffic.

An appeal to the circuit court from a zoning board of appeals must include “a petition in writing setting forth plainly, fully, and distinctly why the decision is contrary to law.” S.C. Code Section 6-29-820(A). The statute makes no provision for amendment of the grounds set forth in the petition. *Austin v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2004). Holdings did not appeal the issue of the conference/event space’s impact on traffic since its Petition refers only to its impact on parking.⁸ The same is true for the issue of the alleged impact of restaurants/bars on traffic.

Paragraph 15 of the Petition contains Holdings’ grounds for appeal to the circuit court. In terms of the conference/event space and restaurants and bars, it read as follows:

A. [Pearce’s] presentation stated that only valet parking for hotel guests will be provided on site and totally failed to consider the **impact of parking** for the conference center and two restaurant (sic) and two bars when the patrons and attendees were not hotel guests.

...

C. The traffic study also failed to take into consideration the impact of having a conference center and two restaurants and bars as part of the project **with no planned parking** for these venues.

⁸ The circuit court did not reach this issue because it concluded there was evidence for the BZA to consider about the conference/event space’s impact on traffic. (R. p.3 fn. 1).

(R. pp. 10-11, Paragraph 15) (emphasis added). Therefore, in terms of the accessory uses – conference/event space and restaurants/bars – Holdings necessarily limited its appeal from the BZA to the circuit court to parking issues.

The only ground of appeal submitted to the circuit court relating to traffic was in Paragraph 15(B) which stated that the traffic study failed to consider cumulative hotel traffic on Guignard Street generated by Pearce’s proposed hotel and other hotel projects already approved in the immediate vicinity. Holdings, however, did not present this issue in its brief or argument to the circuit court as a reason to reverse and remand the BZA’s decision and, therefore, the circuit court’s order did not address it. In addition, Holdings has not raised the issue in its initial brief on this appeal. As such, Holdings abandoned the only issue relating to traffic impacts, and this Court should review only whether there was evidence in the record for the BZA to consider concerning the impact of the accessory uses on parking.⁹


CONCLUSION

The question before this Court is whether there was any evidence to support the BZA’s decision to approve the special exception for Pearce’s hotel. If so, the Court must affirm. In this case, the record shows the BZA carefully considered all aspects of Pearce’s request and there was ample evidence to support the BZA’s decision. Holdings’ arguments, in effect, ask the Court to find the BZA did not give due consideration to the evidence. However, this Court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the BZA. For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the decisions of the BZA and the circuit court.

⁹ Of course, as discussed earlier in this Brief, Holdings failed to preserve the issue of the impact of the restaurant/bar use on traffic or parking, and this Court’s proper review is even more limited to the issue of whether there was evidence in the record for the BZA to consider concerning the impact of the conference/event space on parking.